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of America v. Toys Distribution Inc. et al D

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERI@, CV 14-1364-GW(PLAX)

)

)
Plaintiff, ) CONSENTDECREEOF
) PERMANENT INJUNCTION
) ASTO S & JMERCHANDISE
) INC., TOM LIU, CUCT.
TOYS DISTRIBUTION, INC.dba TD ) THAI, BLJ APPAREL INC.,
INTERNATIONAL, a California ) LUAN LUU, AND ALL
corporation; and LOAN TUYET HAI, ) SEASON SALES INC.
LAN MY LAM and PAUL PHUONG, )

V.

individually and as officers of the )
corporation; S & J MERCHANDISE, 1§, ) [15 U.S.C. 88 2071(a), 1267(a)]
a California corporatiorand CUC T.THAI )
individually and as an officer of the )
corporation; BLJ APPAREL, INC., a )
California corporation; and LUAN LUU, )
individually and as an officer of the )

corporation; and ALL SEASON SALES, )
INC., a California corpation; and TOM )

LIU, individually and as an officer of both )
All Season Sales ar#l& J Merchandise, )

)
Defendants. )
)

)

WHEREAS the United States of Amaaibas filed a Complaint against Toys
Distribution Inc. dba TDI Iternational, Paul Phuongan My Lam, Loan Tuyet
Thai, BLJ Apparel Inc., Luan Luu, S &Merchandise Inc., Cuc T. Thai, All
Season Sales, Inc. and Tom Liu for a pemant injunction fodefendants’ alleged

violations of statutes and regulatiomsforced by the U.S. Consumer Product
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Safety Commission (“CPSC” or “Comasion”), including section 19 of the
Consumer Product Safety Act (“CPSA1L U.S.C. § 2068(a), and section 4 of the
Federal Hazardous Substanées (“FHSA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1263;

WHEREAS the United States and defants S & J Merchandise, Tom Liu,
Cuc T. Thai, BLJ Apparel, Luan Luu, adl Season Sales consent to entry of this
Consent Decree for Permanent Injunciithe “Decree”), without contest, and
before any testimonlgas been taken;

WHEREAS, defendants & J Merchandise, Tom i Cuc T. Thai, BLJ
Apparel, Luan Luu, and INSeason Sales have waiveervice of the Summons and
Complaint; the parties are representgdhe attorneys whose names appear
hereafter; and the partiasant to settle this actiompon the following terms and
conditions, without adjudication of any issue of fact or law.

THEREFORE, on the agreementtlo¢ parties, it is hereby ORDERED,
ADJUDGED, AND DECREED as follows:

FINDINGS

1. This Court has jurisdiction ovéhe subject matter of this action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1345.

2.  This Court has jurisdictiomnder 15 U.S.C. 8§ 2071(a) and 1267(a),
to restrain any violation of the CPSA&GFHSA. All referenes to the CPSA and

FHSA refer to those statutes asearded by the Consumer Product Safety
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Improvement Act of 2008, Public Law 110-314 (“CPSIA”),ialhwas amended
by Public Law 112-28 (2011), and all tesmsed herein shall have the same
meaning as defined and usedhe CPSA, CPSIA, and FHSA.

3. Venue in the Central Distriof California is proper under 28 U.S.C. §
1391(b) and (c).

4. At all times relevat hereto, S & J Mercharg# Inc. (“S & J”), BLJ
Apparel Inc. (“BLJ"), andAll Season Sales, Inc. (“Season”) are “manufacturers”
and “retailers” of “consumer products,” tse terms are defined in section 3 of
the CPSA, 15 U.S.C. § 2052(a).

5. At all times relevant hereto, WoLiu is the manageand Cuc T. Thai
Is the owner of S & J (“S & J defendants”), and as such, they are individuals
responsible for the acts and practices of S & J including compliance with the
requirements of the CPSA, the CPSIA, émel FHSA, and the regulations issued
thereunder. At all times levant to this Complainthey formulated, directed,
controlled, or participated in the aetsd practices of the corporate defendant,
including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. At all times relevant
hereto, they knew of, and had the authoritgdatrol, the actand practices of S &
J, regarding the importation, distrin, and sale ofonsumer products.

7. At all times relevant heretbyan Luu is the owner of BLJ (“BLJ

defendants”), and as suchthe individual responsible for the acts and practices of
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BLJ including compliance with the regaments of the CPSA, the CPSIA, the
FHSA, and the regulations issued thereunddét all times relevant to this
Complaint, he formulated, directed, cotlieéd, or participated in the acts and
practices of the corporate defendant]uing the acts and practices set forth in
this Complaint. At all times relevantieto, he knew of, and had the authority to
control, the acts and practices of Btelgarding the importation, distribution, and
sale of consumer products.

8. At all times relevant hereto, ifoLiu is the owner of All Season Sales

(“Season defendants”), and as such, esitidividual responsible for the acts and

practices of Season including compliance with the requirements of the CPSA, the

CPSIA, the FHSA, and the regtitans issued thereunderAt all times relevant to
this Complaint, he formulatl, directed, controlled, @articipated in the acts and
practices of the corporate defendantjuiding the acts and practices set forth in
this Complaint. At all times relevantieto, he knew of, and had the authority to
control, the acts and practices of Seasegarding the importation, distribution,
and sale of consumer products.

10. The Complaint states claims uplnmich relief may be granted against
defendants under section 19(a) of the P U.S.C. § 2068(a), and section 4(a)
and (c) of the FHSA, 18.S.C. § 1263(a) and (c).

11. The Complaint alleges that t8ek J defendants violated the CPSA,
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15 U.S.C. 8 2068(a)(1), by selling, offegi for sale, manufacturing for sale,
distributing in commerce, and importing irttee United States, consumer products,
or other products or substances thatragulated under the CPSA or any other
Acts enforced by the Commission that ao¢ in conformity with an applicable
consumer product safetylemunder the CPSA, or any similar rule, regulation,
standard, or ban under any other Adibeced by the Commission. Specifically,
the Complaint alleges that the S & Jatelants violated the CPSA by importing,
offering for sale, selling, and distribog in commerce, children’s toys or child
care articles, as defined by 15 U.S.Q0%7c¢(g)(1)(B) and (C), that contain
phthalate concentrations exceeding tth@naable amount pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §
2057c.

12. The Complaint alleges thaetdefendants violated the CPSA, 15
U.S.C. § 2068(a)(1) and (2)(D), and fidSA, 15 U.S.C. § 1263(a) and (c), by
introducing or causing the introduction odidery for introduction into interstate
commerce of banned hazardous substamcdkle receipt in interstate commerce
of banned hazardous substances and tlnedgor proffered delivery thereof for
pay or otherwise. Additionally, the @plaint alleges that defendants violated
the CPSA and FHSA by importing, distuting and selling aldren’s products
containing excessive lead, whiale banned under 15 U.S.C. § 1278a.

Specifically, the Complaint alleges thiae S & J defendanend BLJ defendants
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violated the CPSA and FHSA by importirdjstributing and selling toys and other
articles intended for use by children untleee years of age, which present a
choking, aspiration, or ingestion hazéetause of small parts and which are
banned by 16 C.F.R. § 1500.18(a)(9). Twmplaint also alleges that the S & J
defendants and Season defendants édl#te CPSA and FHSA by importing,
distributing and selling children’s products that bear lead-containing paint,
prohibited under 16 C.F.R.1803.4(b) and that the BLJ defendants violated the
CPSA and FHSA by importinglistributing and selling rattles that failed to meet
the requirements of 16 C.F.R. part 1510, and are banned hazardous substances
under 16 C.F.R. 8500.18(a)(15).

13. The Complaint alleges that t8e&k J defendants violated the CPSA,
15 U.S.C. § 2068(a)(4), by failing to furnislithe CPSC the information required
by 15 U.S.C. § 2064(b).

14. The Complaint alleges thaketdefendants violated the CPSA, 15
U.S.C. § 2068(a)(6), by failing to furnislertificates required by this Act or any
other Act enforced by the Commissiongdeurther, by failing to comply with a
requirement of section 14 (including trexjuirement for tracking labels) or any
rule or regulation under such section.

15. Defendants have entdnato this Decree freely and without coercion.

16. Defendants hereby waia# rights to appeal or otherwise challenge or
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contest the validity of this Decree.

17. Entry of this Decree is in the public interest.
IT 1S THEREFORE ORDRED AS FOLLOWS:

ORDER

1. The defendants who are signatories to this Decree—S & J
Merchandise, Tom Liu, Cuc T. Thai, BlApparel, Luan uu, and All Season
Sales (hereinafter, “Signatories”)—and eacid all of their directors, officers,
agents, servants, brokers, employees;esgors, assigns, and attorneys, and all
persons or entities in active concert ortiggration with any othem, who receive
actual notice of this Decree by persos@ilvice or otherwise, are permanently
enjoined from importing into the Uniteda®és, directly or indirectly, introducing
or causing the introduction into intersgaommerce any toyr other consumer
product intended primarily for childret® years of age or younger, unless and
until:

A.  Signatories retain, at Signatories’ sole cost and expense, an
independent person or entiityhe “Product Safety Codinator”), who is without
any personal or financial ties (other than the agreement pursuant to which the
Product Safety Coordinator is engagegaoform the functions described in this
Section 1.A) to Signatories, their families or any entity directly or indirectly

controlled by Signatories or their famsieand who, by reas of background,




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

training, education, or experience is lijfied to help Signatories fulfill the
following requirements:

I Createa comprehensiveroductsafetyprogram.

. Conducta productaudit to determine which of
Signatories’ merchandise and inventory requires testing and certification of
compliance with the FHSA, the CPSA daany other Act enforced by the CPSC,
and quarantines all subjatierchandise until the produaudit is completed.

B. Retainfor children’sproducts an accredited third party
conformity assessment body or bodiesepted by the CPSC and listed on the
CPSC'’s website (third party conformiagsessment body) to perform third party
testing on children’s prodteas required by law.

C. The Signatories establish, with the assistance of the Product
Safety Coordinator, a comprehensiveduat safety program ith written standard
operating procedures (“SOPs”) designeersure continuousompliance with
applicable federal laws,atdards, and regulations enforced by the CPSC. The
product safety program shall:

I Comply with the third party testing requirements
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 2063(a)(2) and periodic testing at least once a year in
accordance with the requirements of 16.8. part 1107. This periodic testing

requirement applies to each children’sguct that Signatories import into the
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United States or manufacture for sale thaubject to a children’s product safety
rule, or any other consumer product safee or similar ban, standard, or
regulation under the CPSA, the FHSA, aniyer Act enforced by the CPSC, or
any regulation passed thereunder.

. Ensurethataftertestng in accordance with law and this
Consent Decree, Signatories issue,imeaad provide to the CPSC on request,
certificates of conformity for every consunyoduct that is subject to a consumer
product safety rule, childrés product safety rule, @imilar ban, standard, or
regulation under the CPSA, the FHSA, amy other Act enforced by the CPSC,
or any regulation passed thereunder.

lii.  Establish systems to ensure that the product safety
program’s SOPs are followed consistently.

Iv.  Include procedures to ensure that the Signatories:
adequately correct any pnact violation cited by the CPSC (whether in connection
with an inspection, a letter of advioe otherwise); conduct product recalls; and
respond to CPSC letters ahace within the time specifieth each letter of advice.

V. Establish systems to: investigate all reports of
consumer incidents, property damage,nieg, warranty claims, insurance claims,
and court complaints regéing consumer products that Signatories import,

distribute or sell in the United Stateslhere to applicdé CPSC reporting




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

requirements; address potentially defexfproducts appropriately; and implement
corrective internal procedures should sysic issues relating to compliance with
CPSC requirements be identified.

D. The Signatories shall ensure that a third party conformity
assessment body hasnducted certification testing ahildren’s products. The
Signatories shall hire or supervise therg of a third party conformity assessment
body to test samples of each childrgoreduct, subject to any children’s product
safety rule including, but not limited to, the following:

I Small Parts: For each children’s product that is intended
for children under three years of agedatermined by age grading analysis that
includes the factors listed at 16 C.FR1501.2(b), in amrdance with the
requirements of 16 C.F.R. 88 1500.51, 15@0and 16 C.F.R. part 1501.

. RattleRequirementsi-or each children’s product that
meets the definition of a rattle, as aefd in 16 C.F.R. 8§ 1510.2, a third party
conformity assessment body for rattle tegtshall review a modef each product
to determine whether small parts exist tagt each rattle toy in accordance with
the requirements of 16 C.F.R. 8§ 1500.51 and 1510.4.

iii. Lead Paint and Lead Content: A third party conformity
assessment body for lead paint and leatent testing shall test each model of

children’s product that bemia surface coating for compiige with the lead paint

10
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requirements of 16 C.F.R. part 130B8ddest accessible substrates, when
applicable, for the lead content requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1278a(a)(2) and the
applicable requirements of the effectwarsion of American Society for Testing
and Materials standard F963-11.

iv. Phthalates: A third party conformity assessment body
for phthalates testing shallsteeach model of childrentsy or child care article for
compliance with the phthalate conteaguirements of 15 U.S.C. § 2057c.

E. The Signatories issue cadites of compliance for each
children’s product that is subject toyachildren’s product safety rule, verifying
that each of Signatories’ children’s protkicomply with such children’s product
safety rule, to the extent required byU5.C. 8§ 2063(a)(2), 16 C.F.R. part 1110,
and other applicable rules.

F. The Signatories shall certify in writing to the Office of
Compliance that it is in complianegth the requirements set forth in
subparagraphs (A)-(E) of this Decree.

2. Signatories, and each and altledir directors, officers, agents,
servants, brokers, employees, attorneys, successors, assigns, and all persons or
entities in active concert or participatiaith any of them who receive actual
notice of this Decree by personal seevar otherwise, @ hereby permanently

restrained and enjoined from directlyindirectly doing or causing to be done any

11
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of the following acts:

Violating the CPSA

A. Violatingsection19(a)(1)of the CPSA, 15 U.S.C. § 2068(a)(1),
by selling, offering for sale, manufacturifay sale, distributing in commerce, or
importing into the United States angnsumer product, or other product or
substance that is regulated under tRS@& or any other Act enforced by the
Commission, that is not in conformity witin applicable comsner product safety
rule under the CPSA, or any similar rutegulation, standd, or ban under any
Act enforced by the Commissioimcluding, but not limited to:

I Any children’s toys or child care articles that contain
excessive concentrations of phthatain violation of 15 U.S.C. § 2057c;

ii.  Any product which is subject to any consumer product
safety rule or any childres’product safety rule and lacks a conformity certificate
to the extent required under 15 U.S.C. § 2868 applicable rules, regulations, and
enforcement policies of the CPSC; and

lii.  Children’s products that have not been tested by an
accredited third party conformity assenent body accepted by the CPSC to the
extent required under 15 U.S.C. § 2063(a)(®) applicable rules, regulations, and
enforcement policies of the CPSC;

B.  Violating section 19(a)(2)(D) of the CPSA, 15 U.S.C.

12
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8 2068(a)(2)(D), by selling, offering forlea manufacturing fosale, distributing

in commerce, or importing into the Unit&dates any consumer product, or other
product or substance that is a bannexhhdous substance within the meaning of
section 2(q)(1) of the FHSA,15 U.S.C. 1261(q)(1), including, but not limited to,
the violations discussed in subparagraphs (F) - (G) below.

C. Violatingsection19(a)(4)of the CPSA, 15 U.S.C. § 2068(a)(4),
by failing to furnish to the CPSC infoation required by section 15(b) of the
CPSA, 15 U.S.C. § 2064(b).

D. Violatingsection19(a)(6)of the CPSA, 15 U.S.C. § 2068(a)(6),
by failing to furnish a certificate requirdxy this Act or any other Act enforced by
the Commission, or to issudalse certificate, if such peays, in the exercise of due
care, has reason to know that the certi@aatfalse or misleading in any material
respect; or to fail to comply with any requirement of section 14 (including the
requirement for tracking labels), or any rule or regulation under such section.

E. Engaging in any other actjpractice that would violate the
CPSA, 15 U.S.C. 88 2051-2089.

Violating the FHSA

F. Introducingpr causingthe introduction or delivery for
introduction into interstate commer@ny banned hazardous substance or

receiving in interstate commerce any bashimazardous substances, or delivering

13
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or proffering to deliver thereof for pay orhatrwise, in violation of section 4 of the
FHSA, 15 U.S.C. § 1263(a) and (o)¢cluding, but not limited to:

I Any children’sproductcontaining lead exceeding the
limits established in 15 U.S.C. § 1278a;

ii.  Any toy or other article intended for use by children that
bears lead-containing paint, dsfined by 16 C.F.R. § 1303.2(b);

lii.  Any toy or other article, intended for use by children
under three years of age that preserisaking, aspiration, or ingestion hazard
because of small parts, adided by 16 C.F.R. part 1501; and

iv.  Any rattle, as defined ih6 C.F.R. § 1510.2, that does not
comply with the requirements 16 C.F.R. part 1510.

G. Engaging in any other actractice that would violate the

FHSA, 15 U.S.C. 88 1261-1278.

3. Beginning on or before the date tigasix (6) months after the date of
entry of this Decree and every six (6pmths thereafter, for a period of three (3)
years after the date of entry of this DeserSignatories shall provide in writing to
the CPSC a list of any names and impoofenecord numbers used or associated
with any entity owned, manadgeor controlled, in whole or in part, by Signatories.
This list shall be mailed to the Directof Regulatory Enforcement, Office of

Compliance and Field Operations.

14
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4. Signatories shall maintaimdéprovide promptly to the CPSC upon
request, for at least five (5) years attez date of this Deree, records of all
analyses, testing, and certificatesohformance for angonsumer product
required by this Decree and all applicala@s. Such records shall include, but
not be limited to, the date of the analyasil testing, the procedures used, and the

results of the analysis and testing. gr&itories shall also maintain, and provide

promptly to the CPSC upon request, for at least five (5) years after the date of this

Decree, records of all consumer ingitke property damage, injuries, warranty
claims, returns, insurance claims, or ¢aamplaints regarding consumer products
that Signatories imported into the Unit8thtes, regardless of where the incident
occurred, to the extent reasonablzailable and permitted by law.

5. Within ten (10) calendar daysefdate of the entry of this Decree,
Signatories shall post copies of thisddee on all bulletin boards in common areas
at their corporate, warehouse and retailifzes, and at any other locations at
which Signatories conduct business witthe CPSC'’s jurisdiction, and shall
ensure that the Decreesmain posted at each location for as long as such
Signatory is engaged in importing oflsg any toy or other consumer product
intended primarily for children 12 years of age or younger.

6. Within ten (10) calendar dayseafthe date of entry of this Decree,

Signatories shall provide a copy of theddee, by personal service or certified mail

15
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(restricted delivery, return receipt reque$ted each and all of their directors,
officers, agents, servants, brokers, antployees of each retail location in the
United States (collectively referred to as “Associated Persons”). Within thirty
(30) calendar days of the date of entryto$ Decree, Signatories shall provide to
the CPSC’s General Counsal affidavit stating théact and manner of their
compliance with this paragraph, identifying the names, addresses, and positions (¢
all persons who receivedcapy of this Decree pursuant to this paragraph.

7. If any of the Signatories baoes associated with any additional
Associated Person(s) at any time afterdlate of entry of this Decree, such
Signatory immediately shall provide a copiythis Decree, by personal service or
certified mail (restricted delivery, returaceipt requested), to such Associated
Person(s). Within ten (10) calendaydafter the date on which any of the
Signatories becomes associated with sugh additional Associated Person, such
defendant(s) shall provide, the CPSC’s General Counseh affidavit stating the
fact and manner of the dpyable defendant’s compliae with this paragraph,
iIdentifying the names, adelsses, and positions of aAgsociated Person(s) who
received a copy of this Decree pursuarthis paragraph, and attaching a copy of
the executed certified mail return receipts.

8. Within ten (10) calendar dag$éreceiving a request from the CPSC

for any information or documentation ttiae CPSC deems nessary to evaluate

16
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Signatories’ compliance with this Dea, Signatories shall provide such
information or documentation to the CPSC.

9. Signatories shall notify the CPSC’s General Counsel in writing at
least ten (10) calendar before (1) canswation of: a sale, lease, exchange, or
transfer of all or substantially all of tlessets of S & J, BLJ or Season; any merger,
consolidation, or reorganization of S BLJ or Season; or any change in
ownership of S & J, BLJ or Season inialinthe holders of the outstanding equity
of these businesses immediately befoeettansaction do not hold voting control,
or at least 50% of the outstanding #yguwf, the surviving entity after the
transaction; or (ii) adoption or appréovey S & J, BLJ or Season of a plan of
liquidation or dissolution or an agreement relating to or calling for liquidation or
dissolution of S & J, BLJ or Season.

10. All notifications, corresponde®, and communications to the CPSC
as required by the terms of this Decsball be addressed to the Director,
Division of Regulatory Enforcement, Ofé of Compliance and Field Operations,
CPSC, 4330 East West Highway, BetheddB,20814, or to the General Counsel,
, Office of the General Counsel, CPS(330 East West Highway, Bethesda, MD
20814.

11. If any Signatory fails to comply with the material provisions of this

Decree, said Signatory shall pay te tnited States of America liquidated

17
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damages in the sum of one thousand d®l{&1,000.00) for each day that said
Signatory fails to comply with this Deme. Signatories understand and agree that
the liquidated damages specified in this paragraph are not punitive in nature and ¢
not in any way limit the ability of the Uted States of America to seek, and the
Court to impose, additional criminal or civil contemphpkies based on conduct
that may also be the basis foetbayment of liquidated damages.

12. If Signatories violate this Decraad are found in civil or criminal
contempt thereof, Signatories shall, in addition to other remedies, reimburse
plaintiff for its attorneys’ fees, includg overhead, investigational expenses, and
court costs relating to such contempt proceeding.

13. This Decree, and any act, stag@m or document executed pursuant
to or in furtherance of thiBecree, shall not be deemadused in any way: (i) as
an admission of, or evidence of, thdididy of any claim asserted in the
Complaint, or of any wrongdoing or liabilityf the Signatories, or of any unlawful,
unfair, or fraudulent business practiceshd Signatories, all of which Signatories
deny; (ii) as an admission of, or egrtte of, any fault or omission of the
Signatories in any civil, criminal, or adnistrative proceeding of any kind in any
court, administrative agency, or other tnial; or (iii) as an admission of, waiver,
of, or evidence relating to, any ataior defense asserted by any party.

14. Each party shall bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees.

18
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15. The provisions of this Decraee separate arsgverable from one
another. If any provision is stayeddetermined to be invalid, the remaining
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

16. This Court shall retain jurisdion of this matter for purposes of
construction, modification, anehforcement of this Decree.

17. The parties, by their respectivaiosel, hereby consent to entry of the
foregoing Decree, which shabnstitute a final judgment and order in this matter
as to injunctive relief. The parties furttatipulate and agree that the entry of the
foregoing Decree shall constitute full, coete, and final settlement of this action
as to injunctive relief.

SO ORDERED this 1Dday of June, 2014.

/7“‘%74/”/"““*

HON.GEORGEH. WU
UnitedStateDistrict Judge

FOR PLAINTIFF: OF COUNSEL.:

STUART F. DELERY STEPHANIE TSACOUMIS
Assistant Attorney General General Counsel

MAAME EWUSI-MENSAH

FRIMPONG MELISSA V. HAMPSHIRE

Deputy Assistant Attorney General  Assistant General Counsel

MICHAEL S. BLUME HARRIET KERWIN
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Director Attorney

JILL FURMAN Office of the General Counsel
Deputy Director U.S. Consumer Product Safety
Consumer Protection Branch Commission

Bethesda, MD 20814

By:
PATRICK R. RUNKLE

Trial Attorney, Consumer Protection
Branch

Civil Division

United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 386

Washington, D.C. 20044
Telephone: 202-532-4723
Facsimile: 202-514-8742

Email: Patrick.r.unkle@usdoj.gov

FOR THE SIGNATORIES:

Tom Liu
Individually and as officer of
S & J Merchandise, Incnd All Season Sales, Inc.

Cuc T. Thai
Individually and as officer of
S & J Merchandise, Inc.

Jerry Wang, Esq.
Attorney for Tom Liu,Cuc T. Thai, All Season
Sales, Inc., and S & Merchandise, Inc.
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Timothy Vo, Esq.
Attorney for Luan Luu and
BLJ Apparel, Inc.

Luan Luu

Individually and as president of BLJ Apparel, Inc.
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